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OPINION: [*1]
DECISION AND OPINION ON REVIEW

Petitioner appeals the Decision of Arbitrator Mathis under § 19(b) finding that Petitioner failed to prove that he
sustained an accident arising out of and in the course of his employment with Respondent on March 24, 2006. Petition-
er's issues on review are accident, causal connection, temporary total disability, and medical expenses. After consider-
ing the entire record, and for the reasons stated below, the Commission reverses the Arbitrator's Decision and finds that
Petitioner sustained an accident arising out of and in the course of his employment with Respondent, his current condi-
tion of ill-being is causally related to the accident, and he was temporary totally disabled from March 25, 2006 through
August 7, 2007 (71 4/7 weeks). In light of the Commission's Decision, the Commission further remands this case to the
Arbitrator to determine the issue of medical expenses and for proceedings for a determination of a further amount of
temporary total compensation or of compensation for permanent disability, if any, pursuant to Thomas v. Industrial
Commission, 78 IlL.2d 327, 399 N.E.2d 1322, 35 Ill. Dec. 794 (1980} [*2]

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW:

I. Petitioner, a resident of Springfield, Ilinois, testified he had been a union pipefitter for thirty years, working out
of Local 137 in Springfield. On March 24, 2006, he was employed by Respondent, a contractor doing maintenance
work at the Exelon nuclear plant in Cordova, located about 200 miles from Springfield. For the job with Respondent, he
was assigned out of his home union hall, Local 137, and did not report to the union hall near the plant, but went straight
to Exelon to work. {1.9-13)

2. Petitioner testified that he and co-worker, Todd McGill, drove up to Cordova on March 23, 2006, McGill was
also a union pipefitter out of Local 137 in Springfield, and had obtained a job at Cordova the same way Petitioner did.
They left Springfield at about 3:00 a.m., started their work-day in Cordova at 6:00 or 7:00 a.m., and stopped working at
approximately 4:00 or 5:00 p.m. Petitioner did not return to Springfield that night based upon his understanding that he
was expected to work seven days a week, twelve hours a day, and also had to be available in the event he received a
phone call to come in early or he was asked to stay late. Rather, he [*3] and McGill found a place to stay that was
within thirty miles of the plant. According to Petitioner, workers had to be within certain parameters of the plant. Peti-
tioner had worked for Respondent at another plant in Clinton and had to stay at that job fourteen to sixteen hours per
day. Petitioner had previously worked for Respondent in plants at Clinton, LaSalle, and Cordova. In most cases, he was
supposed to be within an hour of the plant. {(T.14-22)
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3. On the morming of March 24, 2006, Petitioner and McGill were involved in a serious auto accident, driving from
the motel to work. As of the 19(b) hearing, Petitioner had not received any benefits and was still off work. (T.23, 24)

4. On cross-examination, Petitioner testified that the Cordova job was not permanent, but was to last several weeks.
(T.25-27) It was not unusual for him to take such a job, and be Jaid off when the work was done. He would then go back
to his local union halt and his business manager would let him know about another job. (T.28-30)

Petitioner testified he lives near Springfield, but not all the work he had performed in the past was in the Springfield
area. He had performed jobs throughout central Illinois [*4] which required him to travel. (T.30, 31) In this instance,
his business manager had looked for local work but when nothing was available, had asked Petitioner if he would be
interesied in the job at Cordova. Since he had worked for Respondent at other plants, his hiring was pretty much guar-
anteed. However, he was not considered an employee until he actually punched in and started the job. (T.34, 35)

3. On further cross-examination, Petitioner testified that just before the accident, McGill's pick-up truck was going
over an overpass. That was the last thing he remembered. He was on his way to the plant to start work and believes the
vehicle skidded over ice.

The accident occurred at about 6:09 a.m. and, more than likely, he was to start work at 7:00 a.m. (T.35-39) He was paid
from the time he punched in to the time he punched out. (T.41,42)

Petitioner testified that he planned to stay at a motel since the plant was 200 miles from his home. He and MeGill
roomed together for both financial and safety reasons. Petitioner testified that Respondent did not tell them to stay at the
Lynwood Resort and never told them what route to take to the plant. The hotel and plant were on the same [*5] road.
(T.43, 44)

Tt was Petitioner's understanding, that Respondent wanted workers to be within an hour's traveling distance from the
plant, so they would not spend a lot of time driving and could arrive at the job site alert and ready to work. According to
Petitioner, he was going to make a substantial amount of money, and it made sense to stay in a motel. (T.52-57)

6. John Haynes, business agent for Local 137 in Springfield, testified on behalf of Petitioner. Haynes dispatches
manpower out of the Springfield Local. He explained that Petitioner was assigned the Cordova job out of Local 137
directly to the plant. The plant would shut down for maintenance and Respondent would determine how many men were
needed. Since there were not enough workers out of Rock Island, where the Cordova Plant is located, the local union
would call sister locals. It was a benefit to the employer to be able to turn to the union and obtain the workers needed.
(T.67-70) At the nuclear level in particular, there are security background checks and specialized skill levels required.
When Petitioner went to the Cordova Plant (focated in the Rock Island area) he was an employee. (T.58-62)

Haynes also testified [*6] that when a worker is assigned to a distant location, it is not feasible to drive home every
night. In Petitioner's case, he could not have been expected to drive six hours per day between Springfield and Cordova
as that would have posed a safety hazard. Also, Petitioner was not being reimbursed for expenses. It was simpler and
eagier to stay near the plant. Petitioner was there to work ten to twelve hour shifts and, if he was needed in an emergen-
" ¢y, the plant would call him in. (T.63-67)

7. On cross-examination, Haynes testified that he is familiar with Local 137's master agreement between certain
employers in Central Illinois and the Pipefitter's union. If a local employer sends a union member outside of his territo-
1y, the union agreement applies and the member is entitled to travel expenses and lodging. But if a job is within the
Springfield area (which covers a broad territory of eleven counties), 2 union member is not entitled to travel expenses.
(T.76) Respondent was not an employer, contractor, or associating member under the agreement and the provisions of
the local union confract did not apply to it. (T.73,74)

Haynes testified further that Petitioner was not working for [*7] Respondent when he was referred to the Cordova
plant. Union members were required to take local jobs first, but since none were available Petitioner decided to take the
job at Cordova. Probably six to ten workers were referred to the Cordova plant for work during the limited shut-down
time. Respondent did not provide transportation or lodging. (T.76-78)

Lastly, Haynes testified that according to the union records, Petitioner did not work a lot in 2005. (RX3) When work
slowed down, members took jobs outside their local territory. Pipefitters go where they can make money and they offset
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travel expenses against their earnings. Since they work ten to twelve hours per day, it makes economic sense to stay
near the plant. Petitioner did not get paid until he clocked in. (T.79-84)

8. Anthony Cahill testified on behalf of Respondent. He has been employed by Respondent as Radiological and
Industrial Safety Supervisor for eight years and is familiar with hiring practices and somewhat familiar with union
agreements involving the Cordova plant. (T.89,90) On March 24, 2006, Respondent was a maintenance modification
contractor for the Exelon Nuclear System. Respondent obtained tradesmen through [*8] the local union per their

~agreement. Respondent was not an employer or a signatory to the union contract, however.

The refuel outage work at the Cordova plant was scheduled to last between seventeen and twenty days. (T.91-93) When
the employment contract was completed, the tradesmen were laid off and no longer considered employees of Respond-
ent. (1.92,93)

In March of 2006, Cahill contacted the Rock Island union about the number of tradesmen Respondent needed. Re-
spondent had no control over the fradesmen who applied for the work because Respondent was working through the
union, pursuant to the agreement. It was not unusual for Respondent to hire tradesmen cutside the local union as the
local union would reach out to sister jurisdictions. There is a labor shortage that is to the critical point nationwide. Trav-
el expenses were not paid under the union contract. (1.94-96,98,99)

Once he was hired, Petitioner was paid hourly commencing when he clocked in on his first day. The hours were any-
where from "six tens” to "seven twelve's". (T.97,98) Respondent did not tell the tradesmen where to lodge or what roads
to take to get to the Cordova plant. Cahill testified that to his knowledge, Respondent [*9] did not call Petitioner on the
date of accident to tell him to report to work early. (T.100,101)

9. On cross-examination, Cahill testified that Respondent must comply with the General President's Agreement for
Maintenance Contracting with Exelon which places the onus on contractors, as well as the union, to provide a ready,
willing and able workforce, even when insufficient skilled Jabor is available at a facility such as the Cordova power
plant. Respondent is required to provide sufficient skilled labor even if that means transferring employees from facilities
inside or outside the Jocal union territory. A contractor is not restricted from hiring outside the local union if the union is
unable to fulfill manpower requests within 48 hours, since the plant would otherwise have to shut down. If a contractor
such as Respondent fails to provide a ready, willing and able workforce, it has failed to perform according to the stand-
ard of the President's Agreement. (T.109)

Cahill admitted that Respondent derives a benefit from workers who are ready, willing and able to work staying within
the geographic area, Petitioner's election to place himself in the immediate vicinity of the Cordova power [*10] plant
was of benefit to Respondent. (T. 111) Emergency labor needs arise within the plant and if Petitioner had elected to
drive 200 miles home each night, he would not have been of much use to Respondent. (T.111-112)

10. On August 21, 2007, Todd McGill, calied as an adverse witness by Respondent, testified via deposition. McGill
testified that he went to Cordova for four to six weeks with the intention of working longer. He was expected to work
twelve hours per day, seven days per week, and received overtime for anything over eight hours. Since the Cordova job
was quite a distance from where he lived, he made arrangements for lodging and shared expenses with Petitioner. The
arrangement was a trade-off since he made good money but had to stay in a hotel. Respondent did not make their motel
arrangements or pay their motel expenses. Respondent did not direct them where to stay, and did not tell them what
route to take to the plant. On the morning of the accident, he and Petitioner left the Lynwood Lodge at 6:05 a.m. so they
could start work at the Cordova Plant at 7:00 a.m. McGill testified that he was not called on March 24, 2006 to come in
early. He started getting paid when he clocked [*11] in at 7:00 a.m. on March 23, 2006. (RX7, pp. 8-11,13-16)

11. On cross-examination, McGill testified that when he went through orientation at Cordova, the benefit of being
close to the plant so he could come to the plant on short notice was stressed. In the past, the benefit of being close to the
plant was also stressed and he had been called to work in the middle of the night. He could have driven home each
night, but that would not have been practical. McGill testified he wasn't required to be close, but it was desired. (RX7,
pp. 19-22)

12. Respondent submitted a document showing Petitioner's employment history with Respondent as follows (PX6):

Hire date, 3/23/06, term date, 4/6/06 in Quad Cities, Cordova.
Hire date 2/22/06, term date, 3/8/06, LaSalle Station, Marseilles
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Hire date 1/11/06, term date, 2/15/06, Clinton Station, Clinton
Hire date 2/18/04, term date, 3/7/04, Quad Cities, Cordova
Hire date 1/4/04, term date, 2/16/04, Clinton Station, Clinton.

13. The Iilinois Traffic Crash Report for the accident indicates that Unit 1, Chevy pickup truck (the vehicle Peti-
tioner was riding in) lost control on an icy overpass, rolled over several times as it went down the steep ditch [*12]
embankment and came to rest on its side. The Report also indicates that Petitioner was not wearing a seat belt and was
ejected from the pickup truck. (PX1) Petitioner was transported to Jowa University Hospital where hospital records in-
dicate that Petitioner was an unrestrained passenger in a rollover motor vehicle accident and was reportedly ejected 30
feet. (PX3)

Petitioner was transferred to Memorial Medical Center. On April 27, 2006, Petitioner was discharged from the hospital
and the discharge diagnoses were bilateral vertebral artery dissection, bilateral cerebellar infarct, left medullary infarct,
Pontine infarct, right occipital infarct, sternal fractures, rib fractures, right hemothorax and pneumothorax, resolved, and
liver laceration. Petitioner sustained a cervical-spine injury, brain injury, and multiple fractures. (PX4)

The Arbitrator found Petitioner failed to prove that he sustained an accident arising out of and in the course of his
employment with Respondent. Petitioner did not meet any of the exceptions to the general rule that an employee who
works at a fixed location with fixed hours is not considered to be in the course of his employment when going to and
coming [*13] from work. On the date of the accident, Petitioner was scheduled to work a fixed number of hours, had
not been called to come to work earlier than anticipated, and was not on an errand or mission for Respondent. The Arbi-
trator rejected the contention that Petitioner was a traveling employee. Rather, Petitioner was a passenger in a
co-worker's private vehicle on his way to start work at his scheduled time. Petitioner was not paid or reimbursed for his
travel time or travel-related expenses, and was not entitled to "on call" pay. Further, Respondent did not direct or con-
trol Petitioner's choice of lodging or the route he was to take to work. Respondent did not require that Petitioner stay
within a certain distance of the plant. It was Petitioner's voluntary choice to take the job outside his local union territory
and it was Petitioner who weighed the travel and motel expenses against the potential earnings. This was the custom and
practice within Petitioner's frade as a result of fluctuations in the job market. The Arbitrator concluded the facts only
proved that Petitioner voluntarily chose to work in a remote location for a short duration in order to earn substantial
money in his trade. [*14] As such, the accident did not arise out of and in the course of employment.

The Commission views the evidence and applicable law differently and finds that Petitioner sustained an accident
arising out of and in the course of his employment with Respondent on March 24, 2006. Generally, an accident which
occurs while an employee is traveling to or from work is not considered one that arises out of or in the course of em-
ployment. Chicago Bridge & Irom, Inc. v. Industrial Commission, 248 Ill. App. 3d 687, 693, 618 N.E2d 1143, 118 1ll.
Dec. 573 (1993) citing Hall v. DeFalco 178 Ill. App. 3d 408, 413, 533 N.E. 2d 448, 127 Ill. Dec. 576 (1988) However,
there are several exceptions to the general rule. An employee will be considered in the course of employment while
traveling to or from work if the course or method of travel is determined by the demands or exigencies of the job rather
than by his own personal preference as to where he chooses to live. Chicago Bridge & Iron, 248 Il App. 3d at 693, 694
citing [*15] Lopez v Galeener, 34 lll. App. 3d 815, 819 341 N.E. 2d 59 (1975). Another exception to the general rule is
that of the traveling employee. Chicago Bridee, 248 Il App. 3d ar 693, 694, citing Wexler & Co. v. Industrial Commis-
sion, 52 112d 306, 510, 288 N.E.2d 420 (1972) and Wright v. Industrial Commission, 62 Ill. 2d. 65, 68-69, 338 N.E. 2d
379 (1975). It has been held that injuries are compensable where traveling employees were engaged in activities other
than those they were specifically instructed to perform by their employers. A traveling employee is one who is required
to travel away from the employer's premises in order to perform his job. "The key factors to this test are 'reasonableness’
and *foreseeability™ of the activity the employee was performing when he was injured. Wright, 62 Il.2d at 69-70.

In the Commission's view, Petitioner was in the course of his employment while traveling to work on the date of
the accident since the [¥16] course or method of travel was determined by the demands or exigencies of the job, rather
than by his own personal preference as to where he chose to live. The Commission first notes that multiple witnesses,
including Petitioner, testified consistently regarding the exigencies of the job. Although Respondent did not demand
that Petitioner lodge within a certain distance from the plant in order to perform the work that was required, Petitioner
had to stay, as a practical matter, a reasonable commuting distance from the plant. Petitioner was required to come to
work ready and fit to perform tasks that required special skills. Petitioner was expected to work ten to twelve hours a
day, up te seven days per week for the duration of the time-sensitive plant maintenance project. Petitioner was expected
to meet his work schedule and be available to work additional hours in the event of an emergency. Both Petitioner and
McGill testified that being close to the plant was highly encouraged and their testimony was consistent with the testi-
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mony of Haynes (T.63-67). It was simply not realistic, given the demands of the job, to expect Petitioner to commute to
Cordova each day from Springfield, approximately [¥17] 200 miles one way. Both Petitioner and McGill previously
worked for Respondent at the Cordova plant and stayed at the Lynwood Lodge, about thirty miles from the plant. Their
experience told them that a thirty-mile commute made it feasible for them to meet Respondent's needs.

Moreover, Respondent could not meet its obligations under the General President's Agreement for Maintenance
Contract with Exelon were it not for the willingness of employees like Petitioner to work long hours and make them-
selves available in the event of an emergency. (RX6) Cahill testified that the onus was on the contractor to provide a
ready, willing and able workforce. Respondent was required to get sufficient skilled labor even if that meant transferring
employees from facilities inside or outside the local union territory, and hiring outside the union's territory if the union
was unable to fulfill manpower requests within 48 hours. The evidence showed that Union Local 25 in Rock Island ser-
viced the area of the Cordova plant. It was common for the union to seek union workers from other locals to meet the
labor requirements, Cahill further testified that Respondent found it beneficial to have workers in other [*18] locals to
meet the labor requirements, Cahill acknowledged that Respondent found it beneficial to have workers ready, willing,
and able to work staying in the geographic area. A tradesman, who fravelled 200 miles twice a day, would not have
been of much use to Respondent. (T. 104-114)

The Commission concludes that the exigencies of the job required that Petitioner stay within commuting distance of
the Cordova plant. The facts presented herein are consistent with the first exception to the "going and coming rule," i.e.,
that the course of travel was determined by the exigencies of the job rather than Petitioner's personal preference as to
where to live.

The Commission also finds that Petitioner was a traveling employee at the time of the accident. The facts in the
case af bar are similar to the facts in Chicago Bridge & Iron, 248 Il App.3d at 688, 689. In Chicago Bridge & Iron, the
claimant, an itinerant boiler-maker/welder, was employed by the employer over the course of several years and was
periodically asked to travel to jobs in other states. When each job began, the claimant was placed on the payroll and
filled [*19] out appropriate tax forms. When the job was completed, the claimant's employment was terminated. The
employer was under no obligation to notify the claimant when work was available, and the claimant was under no obli-
gation to accept any job offered. The claimant's last job prior to the one where he was injured was completed in Febru-
ary of 1987. On April 24, 1987, the employer's field personnel manager contacted the claimant in Illinois about a job in
Pine Bend, Minnesota. The claimant agreed to go to the job site. On April 26, 1987, the claimant drove to Pine Bend,
arrived at the job site around 7 p.m., located the job site, and spent the night in a motel. He was scheduled to work at 7
a.m. the next morning. At around 5:30 a.m. that morning, the claimant started driving toward the job site. When he was
200 yards from the employer's parking lot and waiting to cross the last two lanes of a four-lane highway, the claimant's
truck was hit by another vehicle, and he was injured. At the time of the accident, the claimant was carrying in his truck
several items of equipment belonging to the employer such as a hard hat, safety glasses, welding hood, lanyard safety
belt, slag hammer, and hand [¥20] wrench. The Arbitrator denied the claimant compensation for the accident, having
found that the claimant was not a traveling employee. On review, the Commission reversed. The Appellate Court agreed
with the Commission that the claimant was a fraveling employee. In doing so, the Court referenced the claimant's em-
ployment with the employer over the course of several years, the practice of hiring the claimant for individual jobs and
terminating him upon completion of the jobs, and the purpose of the Act to provide financial protection for injured
workers through prompt and equitable compensation. The finding of the Comumission that the claimant was a traveling
employee was not against the manifest weight of the evidence.

Turning to the present case, the evidence showed that Respondent had to recruit workers from other union locals in
order to provide the necessary labor to complete the maintenance work according to the Exelon Maintenance Agree-
ment. (RX6). The Commission also notes Haynes' testimony that because of the nature of a nuclear plant, security
background checks and a specialized skill level were required. Rock Island Local 25 did not have the manpower to meet
the obligations [*21] of the job and it was required to recruit union members from other Jocals throughout the State.
Respondent depended on Local 137 to reach out to sister jurisdictions to fulfill the manpower needs. Like the claimant
in Chicago Bridge & Iron, Petitioner agreed to travel from Springfield to Quad Cities to work at the Cordova plant. Pe-
titioner worked at the plant on June 23, 2006, stayed at a motel that evening and was returning to the plant on June 24,
2006 when he was involved in a grievous motor vehicle accident. Also, like the claimant in Chicago Bridge & Iron,
Petitioner had worked for Respondent in 2004 and regularly in 2006. Petitioner's work for Respondent took him to
Clinton Station in Clinton, LaSalle Station in Marseilles and Quad Cities in Cordova. {(PX6) When Petitioner completed
a job, he was laid off. Petitioner was considered an employee when he started a job and punched in and he was paid
until he punched out.
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The Commission notes the similaritics between Petitioner and the claimant in Chicago Bridge & Tron, where the
claimant was considered an employee and within the scope of his employment when the accident occurred. Guided by
Chicago Bridge and Iron, {*22] the Commission finds that Petitioner was a traveling employee. The Commission dis-
agrees with the Arbitrator's conclusion that Petitioner chose fo relocate close to the Cordova plant. In the Commission's
view, Respondent, by virtue of the requirements of the services it provided, per the Exelon Maintenance Agreement,
recruited union tradesmen from other locals and required them to fravel to the location where the work was to be per-
formed.

The Commission also relies on Wright v. Industrial Commission, 62 1l.2d 65, 338 N.E.2d 379, 381 (1975), wherein
the Court explained there can be

*...no rational basis to distinguish between the employee who is continuously traveling and one who
travels to a distant job location only to return when the work is completed... It would be inconsistent to
deprive an employee of benefits of workmen's compensation simply because he must travel to a special
location for a period of time to fulfill the terms of his employment and yet grant the benefits to another
employee because he continuously fravels.”

The Comission finds that the fact that Petitioner was not permanently assigned to Cordova and knew the [*23] job
would end does not defeat his argument.

The Commission recognizes that not every employee who accepts employment in a remote location is necessarily a
traveling employee; however, in this instance it is appropriate to so find. Respondent was required to recruit from locals
around the state to fulfill the manpower requirements and Petitioner, as a practical matter, was required fo stay within a
reasonable distance from the plant, to meet the demands of the job. The Commission finds that Respondent must have
anticipated that Petitioner, McGill and other workers recruited from remote locations were required to travel and ar-
range for convenient lodging in order to perform the duties of the job.

The Commission turns then to a determination of the reasonableness and forseeability of Petitioner's conduct. Fol-
lowing the reasoning in Chicago Bridge & Iron, 248 Il App.3d ar 694, Petitioner, a traveling employee, was engaged in
reasonable and foreseeable conduct at the time of the accident. The evidence showed that the Lynwood Lodge was situ-
ated on the road that led to the Cordova plant. The accident oceurred on that road. It [*24] can be inferred from the
evidence that the route Petitioner and McGill took was a direct route to the Cordova plant.

Lastly, the Commission finds that Petitioner was exposed to a risk greater than that to which the general public was
exposed when the accident occurred. The accident occurred on a public highway when the vehicle in which Petitioner
was riding skidded on ice. The accident occurred at 6:00 a.m. and Petitioner was on his way to begin working at 7:00
am At the early hour of 6:00 a.m. in March, it can be inferred that the streets had likely not been cleared and the acci-
dent occurred sometime before most people commute to work, The Commission also notes that MeGill, the driver of the
pickup truck, and Petitioner were on a road away from where they were staying, and, although they had traveled the
road in the past, it can be inferred that they were not entirely familiar with it. Petitioner was exposed to the risk of an icy
road to a greater degree than that of the general public.

Based on the foregoing, the Commission reverses the Arbitrator's finding on accident and awards temporary total
disability benefits and medical expenses.

Petitioner suffered significant injuries [*25] stemming from the accident. While Petitioner was hospitalized fol-
lowing the accident, he developed an airway obstruction, dysphasia, respiratory distress and suffered a brain stem
stroke. He also suffered multiple infections and spent a significant time in the Intensive Care Unit. (PX3,11,17) Peti-
tioner was transferred to Memorial Medical Center four weeks after the accident so that he could undergo extensive
rehabilitation. (PX2,4,13) He developed problems swallowing and speaking. Petitioner underwent an upper endescopy
performed by Dr. Fowler in August of 2006 which relieved some of those symptoms, but the symptoms returned in ap-
proximately October of 2006 when Petitioner developed problems swallowing solid food. In August of 2006, Petitioner
underwent vital stim therapy. The physicians at Springfield Clinic, including Dr. Fowler, reconumended a procedure
called esophageal dilatation to improve Petitioner's ability to swallow. On October 5, 2006, Petitioner underwent that
procedure. Dr. Harrison recommended a feeding tube and continued speech therapy to further evaluate Petitioner's
swallowing. (PX17) Petitioner underwent speech therapy to assist with swallowing and occupational and [*26] physi-
cal therapy at Memorial's Outpatient Center (PX6,7,8,) The physical therapy records indicate Petitioner received treat-
ment from June of 2006 through December of 2006, The history indicates Petitioner sustained a head Injury with bilat-



Page 7
2010 1. Wrk. Comp. LEXIS 811, *

erai vertebral artery dissection, bilateral cerebral infarctions, left meduliary infarction, bilateral small pontine infarc-
tions, a right occipital infarction, liver contusion, mesenteric hematoma, hip fracture, open right wrist fracture with ex-
ternal fixation, evidence of C3-4 contusion with cervical myelopathy, developed cerebellar edema and required place-
ment of stunt, suboccipital craniotomy for surgical evacuation of part of cerebellar stroke because of development of
herniation and obstructive hydrocephalus. The records of Iowa University Hospital confirm the various diagnoses.
(PX3) Petitioner has a peg tube and tracheostomy with Passey Muire valve in place. The therapy records note Petitioner
was wearing a cervical collar and had problems with ambulation, including difficulties with his balance. In December of
2006, Petitioner had undergone a surgical procedore to correct his vision. (PX6,7,8,) Petitioner was evaluated for his
vision complaints [¥27] at Springfield Eye Consultants. (PX11} On October 9, 2006, Petitioner underwent surgery to
his left eye performed by Dr. Krah, at St. John's Hospital. (PX14) The records of Springfield Clinic indicate Petitioner
suffered a cervical and right wrist fracture. (PX10) On May 1, 2006, Petitioner underwent a psychological evaluation at
Memeorial Medical Center. (PX12) Petitioner received a cardiovascular evaluation on September 8, 2006 by Dr.
Sandercock of Koke Mill Medical Associates. Petitioner presented with an abnormal baseline ECG which suggested a
myocardial infarction between March and September of 2006. Alternatively, Dr. Nessler felt that Petitioner might have -
suffered multiple chest traumas as a result of the accident. The doctor ordered additional testing in the form of a two
dimensional echocardiogram. (PX13) The medical records reflect that Petitioner has "Activities of Daily Living" de-
pendence.

The medical records reflect that Petitioner had low back surgery and was off work for about ten months prior to
working for Respondent. Petitioner had few other medical problems prior to the accident.

As of the 19(b) hearing, Petitioner was still undergoing medical care. Respondent offered [*28] no evidence to
show that Petitioner no longer needed care or could work in any capacity. The Comumission finds that Petitioner was
temporarily totally disabled from March 25, 2006 through the August 7, 2007 hearing. Although the last hearing was
held on February 22, 2008, no evidence was taken that day. The Arbitrator merely closed proofs. (T.116)

With regard to the average weekly wage, the Commission notes that at the initial hearing on March 7, 2007, Peti-
tioner claimed an average weekly wage of § 1,473.44 and Respondent did not dispute his claim. (Arb.Exh.1) Pursuant to
Walker v. Industrial Commission, 345 Ill App. 3d 1084, 804, N.E. 2d 135, 281 Ill. Dec. 509, 281 Il Dec. 509 (2004), the
parties are bound by their stipulations. As such, the Commission finds that Petitioner's average weekly wage is §
1,473.44 which yields a temporary total disability rate of § 982.29,

As noted above, Petitioner has required extensive freatment. There appears to be no real dispute that this treatment

was reasonable, necessary, and related to the accident. (PX15) The medical bills, however, are difficult to sort out. Peti-

“tioner's Exhibit 15 [*29] includes a cover sheet indicating a total claim of § 650,382.81. The Commission reviewed
the bills submitted at arbitration and notes that many of the invoices were obtained sometime in 2006, well before the
hearing which took place on three dates in 2007 and 2008 (March 7, August 7 and February 22). Further, many of the
bills were paid by a health insurance carrier, Blue Cross, although the payments are not reflected on the medical bill

_ cover sheet. (PX15) Respondent did not claim a Section 8(j) credit, but it is not entirely clear how Petitioner obtained
Blue Cross coverage. In light of these factors and the numerous bills incurred, the Commission remands the issue of
medical expenses to the Arbitrator for a further determination of the correct amount of medical bills to be awarded,
subject to the Fee Schedule.

I'T IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the Arbitrator’s Decision filed on Apri} 18, 2008 is
hereby reversed. The Commission finds that on March 24, 2006, Petitioner sustained an accident arising out of and in
the course of his employment with Respondent.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall pay to the Petitioner the sum of §
082.29 per week [*30] for a period of 71 4/7 weeks, that being the period of temporary total incapacity for work under
§ 8(b), and that as provided in § 19(b) of the Act, this award in no instance shall be a bar to a further hearing and deter-
nxination of a further amount of temporary total compensation or of compensation for permanent disability, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that the case be remanded to the Arbitrator for a determina-
tion of the exact amount of the medical award. The Commission finds that Petitioner's treatment was reasonable, neces-
sary and related to the accident, but is unable to arrive at a specific medical award based on PX14,

1T IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that this case be remanded to the Arbitrator for further
proceedings consistent with this Decision, but only after the latter of expiration of the time for filing a written request
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for Summeons to the Circuit Court has expired without the filing of such a written request, or after the time of comple-
tion of any judicial proceedings, if such a written request has been filed.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent pay to Petitioner interest under § 19(n) of
the Act, if any.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED [*31] BY THE COMMISSION that Respondent shall have credit for all amounts
paid, if any, to or on behalf of Petitioner on account of said accidental injury.

Bond for the removal of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent is hereby fixed at the sum of $ 75,000.00.
The probable cost of the record to be filed as return to Summons is the sum of $ 35.00, payable to the Illinois Workers'
Compensation Commission in the form of cash, check or money order therefor and deposited with the Office of the
Secretary of the Commission.

DATED: AUG 52010

ATTACHMENT:

ILLINCIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ARBITRATION DECISION
An Application for Adjustment of Claim was filed in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each party.
The matter was heard pursuant to Section 19(b) by the Honorable Stephen J. Mathis, arbitrator of the Commission, in
the city of Springfield, on March 7, 2007, August 7, 2007 and February 22, 2008. After reviewing all of the evidence
presented, the arbitrator hereby makes findings on the disputed issues circled below, and attaches those findings to this
document.
Disputed Issues
C. Did an accident occur that arese out ofand in  [*32]  the course of the petitioner's employment by the
respondent?
F. Is the petitioner's present condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?
G. What were the petitioner's earnings?
J..Were the medical services that were provided to petitioner reasonable and necessary?
Findings

. On 03/24/06, the respondent. The Venture - Newberg Perini Stone & Webster (hereinafter "Newberg"), was operating
under and subject to the provisions of the Act.

. On this date, an employee-employer relationship did exist between the petitioner and respondent.
. Timely notice of this alleged accident was given to the respondent.

. At the time of injury, the petitioner was 50 years of age, married, with 1 child under 18.

. Necessary medical services have not been provided by the respondent.

. To date, § 0.00 has been paid by the respondent for TTD and/or maintenance benefits.
(SEE ATTACHED FINDINGS OF FACTS AND CONCLUSIONS REGARDING DISPUTED ISSUES')

Order
. The respondent shall pay the petitioner temporary total disability benefits of § § - 0 -/week for weeks, from

throngh , which is the period of temporary total disability for which [*33] compensation is payable as petitioner
failed to prove that he sustained injuries arising out of and in the course of his employment on March 24, 2006.
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. The respondent shall pay the further sum of § - 0 - for necessary medical services, as provided in Section §(a) of the
Act as petitioner failed to prove he sustained a compensable accident.

. The respondent shall pay $ N/A in penalties, as provided in Section 19(k) of the Act.
. The respondent shall pay $ N/A in penalties, as provided in Section 19(1) of the Act.
. The respondent shall pay $ N/A in attorneys' fees, as provided in Section 16 of the Act.

Rules Regarding Appeals Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days after receipt of this decision, and
perfects a review in accordance with the Act and Rules, then this decision shall be entered as the decision of the Com-
mission.

Statement of Interest rate If the Commission reviews this award, interest of 1.38% shall accrue from the date listed
below to the day before the date of payment; however, if an employee's appeal results in either ne change or a decrease
in this award, interest shall not accrue.

4-16-08
APR 18 2008

THE ARBITRATOR HEREBY MAKES [*34] THE FOLLOWING FINDING OF FACTS

Petitioner filed this claim for injuries he sustained in a motor vehicle accident on March 24, 2006 (Ax1, Rx1). The
threshold issue is whether Petitioner's accident and injuries arose out of and in the course with his employment with
Newberg.

At the time of the accident Petitioner was a 50 year old pipefitter, who resided in Springfield, Hlinois. He had
worked as a pipefitter for approximately 30 years and was a union member of the Plumbers & Pipefitters Local # 137
located in Springfield (T.9,13,30; Rx3). During his 30 year work experience, Petitioner did pipefitting jobs, not just in
Springfield, but throughout Central Illinois (T.30-31).

As a member of Local 137, Petitioner would go to his union hall and bid on a job. Jt was not unusual to take a job
or work on a project for a certain period of time, or until completed, and then return to the local union to find another
job or project (T.27-28). This employment process was confirmed by Petitioner's Business Agent at Local 137, John
Haynes. The advantage to Petitioner being a union member was that it was his source for finding jobs (T.29). Petitioner
would go to his union Business Agent and tell [#35] him he needed to work (T.29). Petitioner did not apply for a job
directly with an employer. He went through the union (T.30).

The documentary evidence and testimony of Petitioner, Mr. Haynes and Todd McGill, Petitioner's co-union mem-
ber at Local 137, established that local union members could take jobs cutside the union territory provided no work was
available within the local territory. Local 137 union members had to take local work first (Rx7, p.12; T.49). Petitioner
and local members were not required to take jobs outside the local territory (T.48-50). Mr. Haynes confirmed i was the
union member's choice. It was the usual and customary practice for pipefitters to take jobs outside local union territory
if no work was available locally (Rx7, p.12-13). - Mr. McGill had personal knowledge of Petitioner working outside
local union territory (Rx7, p.13). Union members would take jobs where available, even if it meant paying for trave] and
lodging.

Union members of Local 137 were not generally paid for travel time or expenses while working within local terri-
tory which covered portions of Central Iilinois, including Sangamon, Logan, Menard, Pike, Scott, Morgan and Cass
Counties and portions [*36] of Mason, Macon, Christian, Macoupin and Montgomery Counties (Rx3). Petitioner de-
ducted his travel expense for his jobs on his tax returns (T.47). Local employers would pay travel and lodging expenses
if they directed employees to work outside the local territory (Rx5).

Both John Haynes and Ron Cahill, representatives for Newberg, stated Newberg was not an employer, confractor or
mernber of the Association under agreement with Local 137. (See also, Rx5). Newberg was not a signatory to the Local
137 agreement (Rx5). Newberg was a contractor for maintenance and repair of certain Exelon power plants in [llinois,
which was controlled through a separate agreement with various union representatives outside the Local 137 territory
(See, Rx6). Under the provisions of the Exelon agreement, contractors were not required to pay employees for travel
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allowances, mileage or travel time for work projects unless an existing employee was transferred inside or outside the
union territory 1o a project {See, Rx6).

Prior to March 24, 2006, Petitioner had performed work for Newberg on several occasions (Rx3, 4). He had worked
at the Cordova Nuclear Power Plant in 2004 (T.33). Petitioner had also worked [*37] for Newberg at the Clinton and
LaSalle Plants prior to March 24, 2006 (T. 18,27; Rx4; Rx7, p.11). Petitioner paid for his travel and lodging expenses
when he previously did jobs for Newberg (T.44-45). It is unrefuted, based on the testimony of Petitioner and Ron Ca-
hill, that he was not a permanent employee of Newberg and not an ongoing employee of Newberg when he took the job
at the Cordova Plant in March, 2006 (T.34-35; Rx4).

In 2006, Petitioner was advised by his Business Agent, John Haynes, that there was a job coming up at the Cordova
Plant (T.33). Mr. Haynes said there was no work available locaily and asked Petitioner if he was interested in traveling
to and working at the Cordova Plant (T.33). Todd McGill, a pipefitter, also signed up for work at the Cordova Plant in
March, 2006, through a posting of the job through Local 137 (T.36; Rx7, p.10-13). Pipefitting work had slowed down in
2005 (T.48; Rx7, p. 23). The local union referred Petitioner and Mr. McGill for work at the Cordova Plant through the
Jocal Quad Cities union (Rx7, p.11-12). It was Petitioner’s choice to take the job; he was not forced (T.48-50).

The Cordova Plant is 200 - 250 miles from Springfield (T.12). Petitioner [¥38] and Mr. McGill understood the job
with Newberg at the Cordova Plant was going to last several weeks (T.26; Rx7, p.14). They also understood they would
be working seven days a week, 12 hours a day (T.14; Rx7, p.14). Petitioner knew it was not a permanent job (T. 26-27).

Because the job at the Cordova Plant was not close to where they lived, Petitioner and Mr. McGill made arrange-
ments for lodging close to the Plant (T.42; Rx7, p.13). Petitioner said when he accepted the Cordova job he weighed the
expenses for travel and lodging versus the money he would earn (T.50). Petitioner and Mr. McGill made arrangements
to share their lodging and travel expenses for the Newberg job (Rx7; p.16-17; T.42-43).

Petitioner first claimed it was his understanding he had to be within an hour of the Cordova Plant location to take
the job (T.21-22). He later said he did not want to work 12 hours and then drive home. He was going to make a substan-
tial amount of money at the job and it made sense to stay at a motel (1.55-56). Mr. McGill said it was not required to
stay close to the Plant. Newberg did not say they would like us to stay close (Rx7, p.20,22). Mr. McGill also said he had
a chance to make a Jot [¥39] of money at the Newberg job in Cordova with the trade off being the travel expenses
(Rx7, p.17,23). Nothing under the union contract or Newberg policy mandated that employees were required to be
within a certain geographical distance to a Plant in order to work (Rx6).

Petitioner and Mr. McGill had worked for Newberg at the Cordova Plant for one day prior to his accident (T.12,25;
Rx7, p.15). They made arrangements to stay at the Lynwood Lodge or Lynwood Resort (Rx7, p.8; T.37) which was
about 30 minutes from the Plant. (T.38). Petitioner said he thinks he worked 10 hours on the first day of work (T.15).

On March 24, 2006, the date of accident, Petitioner was a passenger in a pick-up truck owned and operated by Mr.
McGill (T.35-36; Rx7, p.8). It was not a company vehicle provided by Newberg (T.37). Petitioner and Mr. McGill were
traveling from the motel to work at the Cordova Plant (T.35; Rx7, p.8). They were scheduled to start work at 7:00 A M.
(T.38; Rx7, p.9). The motor vehicle accident occurred at 6:09 A.M. on March 24th, when Mr. MeGill's vehicle skidded
on ice (T.35-36,38; Rx1).

It is uprefitted that Petitioner and Mr. McGill were neither "on call" nor directed by Newberg to come [*40] to
work earlier on March 24, 2006 (T.42, 40-41; Rx7, p.15). 1t is also unrefuted that Newberg paid Petitioner from the time
he punched in at the Plant until he punched out (T.41,31; Rx7, p.10). Petitioner was not paid for travel time or for travel
and lodging expenses by Newberg (T.41,44; Rx7, p.9-10,15-16,18). Newberg also did not direct or make accornmoda-
tions for Petitioner or Mr. McGill to stay at the motel or direct them to take a specific route to the Plant (T.44; Rx7,
p.9-10).

Under Illinois law, an employee who works at a fixed location with fixed hours is generally not considered in the
course of his employment when going to and from work. Commonwealth Edison Co. v. Industrial Commission, 86 lll.2d
534, 428 N.E.2d 165 (1981); Martinez v. Industrial Commission, 242 Il App.3d 981, 611 N.E2d. 545 (1993); Warren v.
Industrial Commission, 61 111.2d373, 335 N.E.2d 488 (1975). While there are exceptions to this general rule of law,
including close proximity to employment with attendant risks, special errands and missions, employer provided trans-
portation and traveling employees, the issue [*41] is whether Petitioner meets any of these exceptions.

Based in the facts, Petitioner was scheduled to work fixed hours on the date of the motor vehicle accident. He had
not been called in earlier to work by Newberg. 'He was not on an errand or mission directed by Newberg. Rather, Peti-
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tioner was on 2 public way in transit to his place of employment to start work at his scheduled time. Petitioner was also
not using a company vehicle -- he was a passenger in his co-employee's personal vehicle.

Further, Petitioner was not a traveling employee of Newberg. He was not an existing or permanent employee of
Newberg, who was transferred 1o the Cordova Plant, He was also not paid or reimbursed for his travel time, travel or
lodging expenses by Newberg. Petitioner was not entitled to on call pay. Newberg did not direct or control Petitioner's
choice of lodging or the route he was to take to work. Moreover, Petitioner was not required to accept the Newberg job
at the Cordova Plant under the union contract. Rather, it was his voluntary choice to take the job outside local union
territory, which would require travel and temporary lodging. Petitioner's employment within his local union territory
also [¥42] did not generally include payment for traveling. and lodging expenses despite the considerable distance
within the geographical boundaries. Evidence presented at arbitration also did not prove he was required by Newberg to
be located within a certain geographical distance to the Plant.

The facts here only prove that Petitioner, who was a pipefitter for 30 years, voluntarily chose to work in a remote
location over a short duration for the opportunity to earn substantial money in his trade. He asked his union Business
Agent about employment, he was told of the employment opportunity and then took the job after considering the ex-
penses to be incurred and how the expenses could be shared or reduced against the earnings to be made. It can be in-
ferred further that this was the custom and practice of Petitioner's trade as a pipefitter due to fluctuations in job market
conditions. Although Petitioner's accident and injuries while on his way to work for Newberg are certainly unfortunate
and tragic, the accident did not arise out of or in the course of his employment under the facts or the law.

THE ARBITRATOR THEREFORE CONCLUDES:

Based on the Finding of Facts and [llinois law discussed [*43] herein, the Arbitrator concludes the Petitioner
failed to prove his motor vehicle accident and injuries on March 24, 2006 arose out of or in the course of his employ-
ment.

Based on the findings on accident, the issues regarding causation, TTD, medical and wages are moot.
DISSENTBY: NANCY LINDSAY

DISSENT: | respectfully disagree with the Majority's Decision reversing the Arbifrator's Decision and finding that Peti-
tioner sustained an accident which arose cut of and in the course of his employment with Respondent. The Majority's
Decision finding that Petitioner was a traveling employee at the time of his accident and that he was in the course of his
employment while traveling to work on the date of the accident since the course or method of travel was determined by
the demands or exigencies of the job, is erroneous as a matter of law. There is no evidence in the record indicating that
Petitioner was directed to stay where he did or that he had to fravel any particular route to the plant. Petitioner was not
required to stay anywhere. Petitioner could have commuted from home. Petitioner, of his own volition, chose fo siay at
a motel. He could have stayed anywhere. Respondent did not pay for his travel. Respondent [*44]  did not pay for his
lodging. It was Petitioner's sole choice whether or not he took the job at Cordova.

The Majority's reliance on Chicago Bridge & Iron to find that Petitioner is a traveling employee is totaily mis-
placed. Petitioner's situation herein was not at all like that of the claimant in Chicago Bridge & Iron. Unlike Petitioner,
the claimant in Chicago Bridge & Iron worked exclusively for the employer-respondent and periodic travel to work sites
throughout the United States was the heart of their employment arrangement. The claimant in Chicago Bridge & Iron
was requested to travel to a particuiar location and was paid for his mileage to that location. Petitioner herein was not.
Petitioner herein had only sporadically worked for Respondent before. The claimant in Chicago Bridge &Jron had
worked for Respondent nineteen years. Petitioner traveled to the Cordova plant to take a short-term job. His choice to
stay at a motel rather than somewhere else was a personal, individual choice. By definition, a traveling employee is one
who is required to ravel away from the employer's premises in order to perform his job. Petitioner simply does not meet
that definition. [*45] I would have affirmed and adopted the well-reasoned Decision of the Arbitrator. For these rea-
sons, 1 dissent.

Legal Topics:

For related research and practice materials, see the following legal topics:



IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE SEVENTH JUBICIAL CIRCUIT

SANGAMON COUNTY, ILLINOIS AUG 26 201 ICR-8
THE VENTURE-NEWBERG-PERINI, ) ,/ Clerk of

STONE & WEBSTER, ) ¢ ﬁ;&,/ Gireit Gour
)
Plaintiff, )

vs- } CASE NO. 2010-MR-509

)
ILLINOIS WORKERS® COMPENSATION )
COMMISSION and RONALD DAUGHERTY) )
)
Defendant. )
" ORDER

‘This cause coming on to be heard for judicial review brought by The Venture-Newberg-Perini,
Stone & Webster, (Hereinafter “The Venture™) against IHlinots Workers” Compensation Commission and
Ronald Daugherty (hereinafter “Daugherty”), under Section 19(f) of the Illinois Workers’ C.ompens&tion
Act, the parties having filed their respective briefs ‘setting forth the relevant facts, issues, and law to
support their positions, as well as having presented oral argumen%,s before this court on July 18, 2011; the
court having examined the Transcript of Proceedings of the Illinois Workers” Compensation Commission
(hereinafter “Commission™), relevant Iflinois law and case authority, the Arbitrator and Commission
decisions, and after considering the briefs and arguments of the parties and being fully advised in the
~ premises, does hereby find as follows:

1. The following facts are undisputed:

A. Daugherty, a union pipe fitter who resided in Springfield, Illinois, chose to accept the job with
The Venture at a nuclear power facility in Cordova, Iilinois in early 2006.

B. The job at the Cordova facility would be temporary and last several weeks.

C. Daugherty was not an ongoing or exclusive employee of The Venture at the time he accepted

the job at the Cordova facility.

D. The job at the Cordova facility was approximately 200 miles from Daugherty’s residence




in Springfield, ltinois.
E. Daugherty could not accept the Cordova facility job if union jobs were available within his
local union’s territory.
| F. Daugherty obtained jobs, including the Cordova facility job, through his local union.
G. Daugherty was not required under the union rules to accept the Cordova facility job since it

was outside the local union territory.

H. Daugherty and co-union member, Todd McGill, voluntarily chose to accept the job at the
Cordova facility.
1. Daugherty decided to live temporarily at a motel close to the Cordova facility rather than
" commute -back and forth each day between Sf)ringﬁeid, Ilinois and the Cordova falcility during the limited
tenure employment.
1. The Venture did not make accommodations for Daugherty’s lodging for the Cordova facility
job. Daugherty chose the location for his lodging, and The Venture did not pay for Daugherty’s lodging.
K. The Venture did not pay Daugherty for his travel time or travel expenses either from his
Springfieid residence to the Cordova facility or from his temporary residence at the motel to the Cordova
facility,
L. The Venture did not provide Daugherty with a company vehicle for use to and from the
Cordova facility job.
.M. Neither The Venture nor local union rules had an employment requirement that employees
for the Cordova facility job had to be within a certain geographical distance to the facility.
N. The Venture would pay Daugherty for work performed at the Cordova facility job from the
time he clocked in until the time he clocked out.

0. The Venture did not exercise control or otherwise direct Daugherty as fo the route he would

take to work at the Cordova facility.




P. On March 24, 2006, Daugherty was scheduled to report to work at the Cordova facility at his
regularly scheduled time. Daugherty was not on call and was not called into work early on March 24,
2006.

Q. On the morning of March 24, 2006, Daugherty, who was a passenger in a vehicle owned and
operated Ey Todd McGill, sustained injuries due to an accident on a public road while on his way to
regularty scheduled work at the Cordova facility.

2. In consideration of these undisputed facts and application with Illinois law, this Court finds
that the Commission misapplied the law to the facts in ruling Daugherty sustained accidental injuries
arising out of his employment on March 24, 2006.

3. Specifically, Hlinois law provides that generaily an accident which occurs while an employee
is traveling to or from work is not considered one that arises out of or in the course of the employment.
Chicago Bridge & Iron, Inc. v. Industrial Commission, 248 1I1. App. 3d 587, 618 N.E.2d 1143 (1993).
The rationale behind this rule is that an employee’s trip to and from work is a product of*his own decision
as to where he wishes to live, a matter in which his employer ordinarily has no interest. Lopez v.
Galeener, 34 11l App. 3d 815, 341 N.E.2d 59 (1975).

4. The Commission misconstrued or misepplied Mllinois faw in finding that the demands of
Daugherty’s job, rather than his personal preference as to where he chooses to live, served as an exception
to this general rule. See, Lopez v. Galeener, 34 1ll. App. 3d 815, 341 N.E. 2d 39, See also, Sjostrom: v.
Sproule, 33 11 2d 40, 210 N.E. 2d 209 (1965), where the Illinois Supreme Court ruled that an employee’s
accident arose out of an in the course of the employment due to a motor vehicle accident where the
employee was on temporary assignment to supervise construction work at a different location. The
- Supreme Court found the trip was determined by the demands of the job rather than personal factors.

5. The Commission further misconstrued or migapplied IHlinois law in finding that Daugherty
was a traveling employee. Under Iilirnois law, a traveling employee is one who is required fo travel away
from the employer’s premises in order to perform his job. Wright v. Industrial Connnission, 62 111 2d 65,

338 N.E. 2d 379 (1975). Under the undisputed facts here, Daugherfy’s job did not require that he travel




away from the premises of The Venture. It is further undisputed that The Venture had not directed
Daugherty to travel to another [ocation for work. Therefore, the Commission’s determination that
Daugherty was a traveling employee is contrary to the law.

6. The Commission further erroneously retied on the law in Chicago Bridge & Iron in
determining that Daugherty was a traveling employes even though the material facts regarding the nature
of the employment relationship are not similar.

7 This court further finds that the Commission’s determination resuits in a misapplication of law
and an inequitable and unjust result. It would allow an employee who voluntarily chooses to live
remotely from the place of employment to become a traveling employee and receive workers’
compensation benefits for injuries while traveling to and from work from a temnporary residence, but deny -
benefits to a co-employee who permanently resides in the same geographical area of the employment.

THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY bRDERED that the decision of the Workers” Compensation
Commission is improper as a matter of law. The Commission decision is reversed, in total, and the
decision of the Arbitrator denying this claim is reinstated.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that there is no just reason to delay enforcement or appeal of this

Judgment.

 ENTER: AI%AZ Z&( w(/

1

Circuit Judge -
-
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IN THE
APPELLATE COURT OF ILLINOIS
FOURTH DISTRICT
WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION DIVISION

THE VENTURE-NEWBERG PERINI Appeal from the Circuit Court

STONE AND WEBSTER, of Sangamon County.
Appellee,

V. No.  10-MR-509

ILLINOIS WORKERS® COMPENSATION
COMMISSION ef al. Honorable
Patrick W. Kelley,

Judge, Presiding.

T R N L N

(Ronald Daugherty, Appellant).

JUSTICE HOFFMAN delivered the judgment of the court, with opinion.
Justices Holdridge and Stewart concurred in the judgment and opinion.
Justice Hudson dissented with opinion, joined by Justice Turner.
OPINION
91 The claimant, Ronald Daugherty, appeals the decision of the circuit court of Sangamon
County finding that he is not entitled to benefits under the Workers® Compensation Act (Act) (820
ILCS 305/1 et seq. (West2006)) for injuries he sustained while in the employ of the respondent, The

Venture-Newberg Perini Stone & Webster (Venture-Newberg). On appeal, the claimant argues that

the circuit court erred in setting aside the Commission's determination that his accident, which
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occurred while he was traveling from his motel to a jobsite, arose out of and in the course of his
employment with Venture-Newberg. For the reasons that follow, we agree, and we therefore reverse
the judgment of the circuit court and reinstate the Commission's decision.

92 We begin with a recitation of the relevant facts, drawn from the record of proceedings before
the arbitrator. At the time of the accident, the claimant was a 50-year-old pipefitter who resided in
Springfield, Ilinois. He had worked as a pipefitter for approximately 30 years and was a member
of the Plumbers & Pipefitters Union Local 137 (Local 137) based in Springfield. Members of Local
137 bid for jobs at their union hall. Typically, when a member completes a job he or she is
terminated and must seek another position. Although members are permitted to take jobs outside
of Local 137’s home territory provided no work is available locally, they are not required to do so.
93 Venture-Newberg is a contractor that was hired to perform maintenance and repair work at
a nuclear power plant in Cordova, Illinois, operated by Exelon Corporation (Exelon). Cordova is
Jlocated between 200 and 250 miles from Springfield and is within the home territory of Plumbers
& Pipefitters Union Local 25 (Local 25) based in Rock Island, Illinois. Venture-Newberg discussed
its manpower needs for the Cordova project with Local 25, and Local 25 posted the positions to its
membership. The positions at the Cordova plant were temporary and expected to last only a few
weeks. Tradesmen hired for the Cordova job were expected to work between 6, 10-hour days and
7, 12-hour days and could be called in on an emergency basis.

94 Duetoinsufficient manpower within its home territory, Local 25 sought members from other
locals, including Local 137, to work for Venture-Newberg at the Cordova plant. John Haynes, a

business agent with Local 137, advised the claimant of the openings at the Cordova plant. At the

e
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time thé Cordova jobs were posted, the claimant was unemployed and no work was avatlable locally,
so he bid on a job. The claimant and Todd McGill, another member of Local 137, accepted positions
at the Cordova plant. Prior to the Cordova job, the claimant had worked for Venture-Newberg on
four separate occasions between 2004 and 2006. The length of these four jobs varied and lasted for
as few as two weeks to as many as six weeks. The claimant was laid off at the end of each job and
had to be rehired for each subsequent job.

95  The claimant and McGill first reported to work at the Cordova plant on March 23, 2006.
After completing their shifts that day, the two men spent the night at the Lynwood Lodge, which is
located 30 miles from the jobsite. The men were scheduled to start work the following day at 7 a.m.
On the moming of March 24, 2006, the men left the motel for the Cordova plant in McGill’s pickup
truck. Shortly after 6 a.m., the vehicle, which was being driven by McGill, skidded on a patch of
ice while traveling on an overpass. The claimant sustained serious injuries as a result of the motor
vehicle accident.

§6 At the hearing on his application for adjustment of claim, the claimant testified that it was
his “understanding” that in “most cases,” Venture-Newberg requested workers to be within an hour
of the jobsite so that they are alert and ready for work. He explained that workers “had to be
available just at a phone call, and they would call you and maybe you would come in early or you
would stay late, so you had to stay within a certain parameter of the plant.” The claimant later
testified that he did not want to have to work 12 hours and then drive home and that he planned on
staying at the Lynwood Lodge because the jobsite was 200 miles from his residence. The claimant

stated that it made sense for him, once he finished his shift, to rest at a hotel and prepare for the next

-3-
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day. The claimant acknowledged that Venture-Newberg did not instruct him to stay at the Lynwood
Lodge and that Venture-Newberg did not direct which route to take from the motel to the Cordova
plant. Further, Venture-Newberg did not reimburse the claimant or McGill for their travel or lodging
expenses or pay the men for the time they spent traveling to the jobsite. Additionally, the claimant
stated that he was not instructed to arrive early for work on March 24, 2006, was not called into work
for an emergency on the day of the accident, and was not on “on-call status” at the time of the
accident.

57 MecGill acknowledged that Venture-Newberg never expressly requested employees fo reside
near the jobsite. However, he opined that driving a distance of more than 200 miles to the jobsite
would make it difficult to work a 12-hour shift and to be available in the event of an emergency.
McGill testified that the men were not called to the plant for an emergency on the date of the
accident and Venture-Newberg did not ask the men to come in early that day. McGill further
testified that Venture-Newberg did not direct him and the claimant to take a particular route to the
Cordova plant. In addition, Venture-Newberg did not direct him and the claimant to stay at the
Lynwood Resort, make the arrangements for him and the claimant to stay at that location, pay for
the tﬁotei accommodations or the men's travel expenses, or compensate them for time spent traveling
from the motel to the jobsite.

98  Haynes testified that Local 137 covers a “fairly broad” geographical area. As a result,
members generally have to travel to get to a particular job or project. Haynes testified that the union
agreement does not provide for reimbursement of travel or lodging expenses unless “the contractor

has sent [the member] away.”
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99  Ronald Cahill testified that, in March 2006, he was employed by Venmre-Newberg asa
radiological and safety supervisor. Cahill testified that although the claimant worked for Venture-
Newberg on several other projects, he was not a permanent employee of the company in March 2006.
Cahill explained that Venture-Newberg hired workers through the union and would lay off the
workers when a project was completed. Tradesmen began receiving pay when they clocked in at the
job site. Cahill testified that Venture-Newberg did not pay travel or lodging expenses for tradesmen
working on the Cordova project in March 2006 and that tradesmen were not compensated for the
time spent commuting to and from the jobsite. He stated that Venture-Newberg was required to pay
travel expenses only if an existing employee was transferred to a different facility. Cahill stated that
the claimant was not transferred to the Cordova plant from another facility in March 2006. Cahill
acknowledged that the contract between Exelon, its contractors (including Venture-Newberg), and
the unions places the onus upon the unions and the contractors to provide a ready, willing, and able
workforce to fulfill the requirements of the contract. He also acknowledged that, by staying at a
motel, the claimant benefitted Venture-Newberg and helped it comply with the Exelon contract. He
noted that the claimant might not be able to assist in the case of an emergency if he had to travel 200
miles to reach the jobsite.

910 Based on the foregoing evidence, the arbitrator concluded that the claimant failed to sustain
his burden of establishing that the motor vehicle accident arose out of and in the course of the
claimant’s employment with Venture-Newberg. In a divided decision, the Commission reversed
the decision of the arbitrator and concluded that the claimant sustained an accident arising out of and

in the course of his employment with Venture-Newberg. The Commission acknowledged that,
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ordinarily, an accident that occurs while an employee is traveling to or from work is not considered
one that arises out of or in the course of employment. However, the Commission found two
applicable exceptions. First, the Commission concluded that the claimant was in the course of
employment while traveling to work because the course or method of travel was determined by the
demands or exigencies of the job rather than by the claimant’s personal preference as to where he
chose to live. Chicago Bridge & Iron, Inc. v. Industrial Comm’n, 248 1ll. App. 3d 687, 693-94
(1993). Second, relying upon Chicago Bridge & Iron, Inc., the Commission found that the claimant
was a “traveling employee” at the time of the accident. On review, the circuit court of Sangamon
County set aside the decision of the Commission. This appeal followed.

911 On appeal, the claimant argues that the trial court erred in setting aside the Commission's
finding that his injury arose out of and in the course of his employment. An employee's injury 1s
compensable under the Act only if it arises out of and in the course of his employment. 820 ILCS
305/2 (West 2008). Both elements must be present at the time of the claimant's injury in order to
justify compensation. lllinois Bell Telephone Co. v. Industrial Comm'n, 131111 2d 478, 483 (1989).
912  Thedetermination of whether an injury to a traveling employee arose out of and in the course
of employment is governed by different rules than are applicable to other employees. Hoffman v.
Industrial Comm'n, 109 11l 2d 194, 199 (1985). Our first question, then, is whether the claimant
qualified as a traveling employee.

913 A " ‘'traveling employee' " is defined as "one who is required to fravel away from his
employer's premises in order to perform his job." Cox v. lllinois Workers' Compensation Comm'n,

406 1I1. App. 3d 541, 545 (2010). 1t is undisputed that (1) the claimant in this case was employed
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by Venture-Newberg; (2) he was assigned to work at a nuclear power plant in Cordova, Illinois,
operated by Exelon in excess of 200 miles from his home; and 3) the premises at which the claimant
was assigned to work were not the premises of his employer. These facts establish the claimant's
status as a traveﬁng employee.

914  This is not to say that the claimant's status as a traveling employee necessartly satisfied his
burden of establishing that his injury arose out of and in the course of his employment. A finding
that a claimant is a traveling employee does not relieve him from the burden of proving that his
injury arose out of and in the course of his employment. Hoffiman, 109 Il 2d at 199. The test of
whether a traveling employee's injury arose out of and in the course of his employment is the
reasonableness of the conduct in which he was engaged at the time of his injury and whether that
conduct might have been anticipated or foreseen by Venture-Newberg. Howell Tractor & Equipment
Co. v. Industrial Comm'n, 78 1ll. 2d 567, 573-74 (1980). The question is one of fact to be resolved
by the Commission, and its determination should not be disturbed on review unless it

is against the manifest weight of the evidence. Aaron v. Industrial Comm'n, 59 1ll. 2d 267, 269
(1974); Cox, 406 111. App. 3d at 546. For a finding of fact to be contrary to the manifest weight of
the evidence an opposite conclusion must be clearly apparent. Caterpillar, Inc. v. Industrial
Comm'n, 228 11l App. 3d 288, 291 (1992).

€15 In this case, the Commission found that Venture-Newberg must have anticipated that the
claimant, recruited to work at Exelon's facility over 200 miles from the claimant's home, would be
required to travel and arrange for convenient lodging in order to perform the duties of his job, and

that it was reasonable and foreseeable that he would travel a direct route from the lodge at which he
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was staying to Exelon's facility. Therefore, the Commission concluded that the claimant's injury,
sustained when the vehicle in which he was riding to work from the lodge at which he was staying
skidded on a public highway, arose out of and in the course of his employment. This determination
is clearly not against the manifest weight of the evidence.

916 Rather than focusing its attention on the issue of whether the claimant was required to travel
away from Venture-Newberg's premises in order to perform his job, the dissent fixes the issue as
whether the claimant was required to travel away from the only Jocation where he was assigned to
work. Then, without citation to authority, the dissent seemingly concludes that, where an employee
is hired on a temporary basis only and is assigned by the employer to work at one specific jobsite
other than the employer's premises, the assigned location becomes the employer's premises for
purposes of applying the traveling-employee rule. We believe that the reasoning of the dissent in
this regard was soundly rejected by our supreme court in Wright v. Industrial Comm'n, 62 111 2d 65,
69 (1975). As the Wright court held, "It would be inconsistent to deprive an employee benefits of
workmen's compensation simply because he must travel to a specific location for a period of time
to fulfill the terms of his employment and yet grant the benefits to another employee because he
continuously travels." Wright, 62 Ill. 2d at 69.

€117  Forthesereasons, we reverse the judgment of the circuit court and reinstate the Commission's
decision.

918  Circuit court judgment reversed; Commission decision reinstated.

919 JUSTICE HUDSON, dissenting.
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920  Anaccident that occurs while an employee is commuting to or from work does not arise out
of and in the course of employment and is therefore not compensable under the Act. Commonwealth
Edison Co. v. Industrial Comm'n, 86 Tll. 2d 534, 537-38 (1981); Warren v. Industrial Comm 'n, 61
1. 2d 373, 377 (1975). The rationale for this rule is that the employee’s trip to and from work is the
result of the employee’s decision where to live, which is a matter of no concern to the employer.
Martinez v. Industrial Comm 'n, 242 L. App. 3d 981, 985 (1993). Nevertheless, there are several
exceptions to this rule. In this case, a divided Commission concluded that two of these exceptions
entitled claimant to compensation under the Act. First, the Commission concluded that claimant was
in the course of employment while traveling to work because the course or method of travel was
determined by the demands or exigencies of the job rather than by claimant’s personal preference
as to where he chose to live. Chicago Bridge & Iron, Inc. v. Industrial Comm’n, 248 111. App. 3d
687, 693-94 (1993). Second, relying upon Chicago Bridge & Iron, Inc., 248 I11. App. 3d at 693-94,
the Commission found that claimant was a “traveling employee” at the time of the accident. On
appeal, a majority of this court concluded that the Commission properly determined that claimant’s
injuries were compensable pursuant to the traveling-employee exception. Idisagree. Ialso conclude
that the second exception cited by the Commission is inapplicable. Accordingly, I respectfully
dissent.

921  A“traveling employee” is defined as "one who isrequired to travel away from his employer’s
premises in order to perform his job." Cox v. Hllinois Workers’ Compensation Comm’n, 406 I11. App.
3d 541, 545 (2010). The majority notes that claimant was employed by respondent and he was

assigned to work at a facility operated by another entity. Based on these findings, the majority
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concludes that claimant qualifies as a traveling employee since “the premises at which the claimant
was assigned to work were not the premises of his employer.” Supra, § 13. In my opinion, the
majority expands the definition of a traveling employee beyond its intended scope.
922  Significantly, claimant presented no evidence that he was required to travel away from his
assigned work location in order to perform his job. Indeed, claimant’s position required no travel
from the work site at all. Further, claimant was not required to go to any other location prior to
reporting to the Cordova plant. To the contrary, claimant’s employment was fixed at a single
location. Moreover, when claimant accepted the position with respondent he was aware that the job
“was located 200 miles from his residence. He voluntarily chose to work for respondent because no
work was available within Local 137’s home territory. I believe that the majority’s position will lead
to anomalous and unintended results. It would allow an employee who voluntarily chooses to live
remotely from the place of employment to become a traveling employee and receive workers’
compensation benefits for injuries while traveling to and from work from a temporary residence.
Perhaps more significantly, under the approach taken by the majority, everyone hired at the Cordova
plant on a temporary basis, even individuals residing in close proximity to the plant, would arguably
became a traveling employee.
923 Infinding that the claimant was a traveling employee, the Commission relied on Chicago
Bridge & Iron, Inc., 248 T1l. App. 3d 687. Claimant also cites to Chicago Bridge & Iron, Inc. in this
appeal. However, that case is distinguishable. In Chicago Bridge & Iron, Inc., the employee was
an itinerant boilermaker-welder. He was hired by the employer in 1968. Thereafter, the employee

worked regularly and exclusively for the employer and was periodically required to travel to work
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sites located in other states. When each job began, the employee was placed on the payroll and he
filled out the required tax forms. When the job was completed, the employee was terminated from
the payroll. The employer was under no obligation to notify the employee when work was available,
and the employee was not under any obligation to accept the job offered. On April 24, 1987, the
employer’s field personnel manager contacted the employee in Illinois about a job in Minnesota.
The employee agreed to go to the jobsite. On April 26, 1987, the employee drove to Minnesota,
Ioca‘aéd the jobsite, and spent the night at a motel. The following morning, claimant was injured in
a car accident as he was traveling from the motel to the jobsite. Chicago Bridge & Iron, Inc., 248
1. App. 3d at 688-89.

924  Thearbitrator denied compensation, finding, inter alia, that the employee was not a traveling
employee. The arbitrator reasoned that the employee would have had to arrive at the jobsite and
commence employment to be considered a traveling employee. The Commission reversed,
concluding that the employment began in Illinois when the employee was hired and that he was a
traveling employee engaged in reasonable and foreseeable conduct traveling in a direct route from
the motel to the jobsite at the time of the accident. On appeal, we affirmed the decision of the
Commission, explaining:

“Atoral argument both parties seemed to agree that had the [employee] never worked
for the employer prior to receiving the call from [the field personnel manager], he would not
be a traveling employee. We agree. Conversely, if the [employee] had not been terminated
from the payroll after each job, we would have little difficulty characterizing him as a

traveling employee.
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While the facts sub judice are different than either of the above, we judge them closer
to the latter. Given [the employee’s] long-standing (19 years) and exclusive employment
with the employer, and considering that the purpose of the Act is to provide financial
protection for injured workers through prompt and equitable compensation [citations], we
do not believe that the finding of the Commission that the [employee] was a traveling
employee was against the manifest weight of the evidence.” (Emphasis added.) Chicago
Bridge & Iron, Inc., 248 11l. App. 3d at 694.

Critical to our decision in Chicago Bridge & Iron, Inc. was the fact that the employee worked
regularly and exclusively for the employer for an extended period of time. In this case, claimant was
not employed exclusively for respondent. Moreover, given that claimant only worked four short
stints for respondent in the two years preceding the accident, I cannot conclude that he worked
regularly for respondent or that he was a long-standing employee. Further, Inote that the employee
in Chicago Bridge & Iron, Inc. was “periodically required” to travel. (Emphasis added.) Chicago
Bridge & Iron, Inc., 248 T1L. App. 3d at 688-89. In contrast, claimant knew he would be assigned to
work at the Cordova jobsite when he accepted the job and he was not “required” to travel away from
that location. For these reasons, the Commission’s reliance on Chicago Bridge & Iron, Inc. for the
proposition that claimant is a traveling employee is misplaced.

€25 The Commission also cited to Wright v. Industrial Comm’n, 62 1L 2d 65 (1975). The
Commission’s reliance on Wright is misplaced as well. In Wright, it was undisputed that the
employee’s duties required him to travel away from the employer’s premises. Wright, 62111 2d at

67 (“These duties frequently required that [the employee] travel to out-of-state locations and remain
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there during the installation of the machinery for 5 to 6 month periods.”). As noted above, in this
case claimant was not required to travel away from the site to which he was assigned to perform his
job. -

€26 Insum, I would hold that in cases such as this, where an employee is hired on a temporary
basis only and is assigned by the employer to work at one specific jobsite for the duration of the
employment, that assigned location becomes the employer’s “premises” for purposes of the
application of the traveling-employee rule. Of course, if the employee is directed or required to work
away from the assigned location during the period of temporary employment, the employee would
then become a traveling employee under the law. This interpretation would lead to results more
grounded in the true considerations of a given case and be more consistent with the purpose of the
traveling-employee rule. Thatis, it is the requirements or directions of the employer, not a voluntary
decision by the employee, that determines whether an individual is classified as a traveling
employee.

927  The Commission also found that claimant is entitled to benefits because the course or method
of travel to the Cordova plant was determined by the demands or exigencies of claimant’s job with
respondent rather than by his own personal preference as to where to live. Irefer to this exception
as the “exigency exception.”

928  Theexigency exception appears to have its origin in Sjostrom v. Sproule, 33 T1L. 2d 40 (1965).
In that case, the plaintiff and the defendant were engineers for Armour & Co. (Armour). Both men
resided in Chicago. Chicago was also the location of Armour’s main office. In 1952, the men were

assigned to supervise the construction of a plant in Bradley, Iilinois. Armour would reimburse the
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men for the expenses they incurmred while commuting to and from Bradley. The type of
reimbursement depended on whether the employee used his own car, in which case reimbursement
was on a per-mile basis, or whether the employee used a company car, in which case reimbursement
was for the cost of gasoline and oil. To eliminate the duplicate expense involved in reimbursing both
the plaintiff and the defendant, a supervisor at the Bradley plant asked the men to carpool. On
December 4, 1952, the defendant left his house in his own car to pick up the plaintiff. While driving
to Bradley, the men were involved in an automobile accident. The plaintiff sued the defendant for
his injuries.

929  The issue before the supreme court in Sjostrom was whether section 5 of the Act barred the
plaintiff’s lawsuit because the men were in the “line of duty” at the time of the accident. See IlL
Rev. Stat. 1963, ch. 48,9 138.5 (now codified, as amended, at 820 ILCS 305/5 (West 2006) (barring
an action by an employee against the employer or his employees “for injury or death sustained by
any employee while engaged in the line of his duty as such employee™)). The supreme court equated
the “line of duty” inquiry to the general test of compensability under the Act, i.e., whether the
employee’s injuries arose out of and in the course of his employment. Sjostrom, 33 IIl. 2d at 43.
Applying the test, the court determined that the Act barred the plaintiff’s action. Sjostrom, 33111,
2d at 44. The court recognized that, as a general rule, accidents that occur while an employee is
going to or from his place of employment do not arise out of and in the course of employment.
Siostrom, 33 111. 2d at 43. Nevertheless, the court concluded that “the nature of an employee’s job
is sometimes such that his trip to work is determined by the demands of his employment rather than

personal factors.” Sjostrom, 33 Ill. 2d at 43-44. The court found that the men traveled to Bradley
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to accommodate Armour rather then themselves. Sjostrom, 33 IIl. 2d at 44. In this regard, the court
noted that Bradley was not the regular place of work of the plaintiff or the defendant, that the men
were assigned to that location on a ten;.porary. basis, and that Armour exercised “control” over the
method of travel to insure that only one of the parties would be reimbursed. Sjostrom, 33 IlL 2d at
43-44.

930  Theexigency exception was later discussed in Lopez v. Galeener, 34 L. App. 3d 815 (1975).
In Lopez, Gibson Galeener operated a feed store in town and a poultry farm about 1% miles outside
of town. Galeener hired two young men, Richard Schuette and Douglas Lopez, to work on the
poultry farm. Galeener provided a shower room at the feed store where those who worked at the
poultry farm could change clothes. One afternoon, Schuette and Lopez went to the feed store after
school. They changed their clothes, and left with another young man, Lawrence Hess, for the poultry
farm in Galeener’s station wagon. En route, they stopped at a café for about 20 minutes, drinking
soda and talking to friends. When completing their journey to the poultry farm, the station wagon,
then operated by Hess, was struck by an automobile, resulting in injury to Schuette and death to
Lopez. Schuette and the administrator of Lopez’s estate filed an action against Galeener énd Hess.
At trial, there was conflicting testimony regarding whether Schuette and Lopez were required to
report to the feed store in town before beginning their work at the poultry farm. A special
interrogatory was submitted to the jury which required the jury to state whether Schuette and Lopez
were in the line of their duty as employees of Galeener. The jury answered the special interrogatory

in the negative and returned a verdict in favor of the plaintiffs. Lopez, 34 1ll. App. 3d at 816-18.
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931

Like Sjostrom, the issue presented on appeal in Lopez was whether the plaintiffs were

engaged in the line of their duty as employees of Galeener when they were involved in an automobile

accident and therefore precluded from recovering from the defendants under section 5 of the Act.

In rejecting the defendants’request for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, the appellate court

explained:

932

“The defendants *** have argued that the travel of Schuette and Lopez from the feed store
to the poultry farm was occasioned by the demands or exigencies of their employment with
[defendant] Galeener. The evidence, when viewed most favorably to plaintiffs shows they
were not required by their employment to go to the feed store, and that they were not required
by their employment to travel from the feed store to the poultry farm. The most that can be
said about the relationship of Schuette and Lopez to the feed store is that Schuetie and Lopez
could go to the feed store to change their clothes if they desired to do so. This certainly does
not overwhelmingly prove that the presence of Schuette and Lopez at the feed store or that
the traveling by Schuette and Lopez from the feed store to the poultry farm was brought by
the demands or exigencies of the employment. The verdict of the jury that Schuette and
Lopez were not engaged in the line of their duty at the time of the accident was therefore
supported by the evidence.” Lopez, 34 Ill. App. 3d at 819-20.

The applicability of the exigency exception was addressed in Chicago Bridge & Iron, Inc.,

248 TI1. App. 3d at 693. There, the employee was injured while driving to a jobsite. This court found

that the exigency exception did not apply. Chicago Bridge & Iron, Inc., 248 111. App. 3d at 693, We
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explained that while the employer gave the einployee directions to the jobsite, he was free to use any
route he chose to reach his destination. Chicago Bridge & Iron, Inc., 248 TI1. App. 3d at 693.

933  The foregoing cases establish that the applicability of the exigency exception entails an
examination of the contro] the employer exercised over the course or method of the employee’s
travel to the jobsite. In Sjostrom, the exigency exception was found to apply because the employer
assigned the employees to a location away from their regular jobsite and asserted control over the
employees’ method of travel to insure that only one of the parties would be reimbursed. Sjostrom,
33 1L 2d at 43-44. In Lopez, the exigency exception was found not to apply because the employer
did not require the employees to stop at the feed store prior to traveling to the poultry famm. Lopez,
34 11. App. 3d at 819-20. Similarly, in Chicago Bridge & Iron, Inc., the exigency exception was
found not to apply because the employer did not direct the employee to use a particular route o reach
his destination. Chicago Brz‘dge & Ironm, Inc., 248 11l. App. 3d at 693.

934 Here, the Commission determined that respondent “did not demand that [claimant] lodge
within a certain distance from the plant in order to perform the work that was required.” fagree that
the rccord supports such a finding. Despite this determination, the Commission went on to find that,
“as a practical matter,” claimant had to stay within a reasonable commuting distance from the plant.
The Commission explained that claimant was required to come to work ready and fit to perform
tasks that required special skills, that he was expected to work 10 to 12 hours a day up to 7 days a
week, and that he was expected to be available to work additional hours in the event of an
emergency. On appeal, claimant cites thesé same factors in support of his argument for application

of the exigency exception. However, neither claimant nor the Commission explains how these
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factors establish that respondent controlled the course or method of claimant’s travel to the Cordova
plant. Additionally, I do not find these factors relevant to application of the exigency exception in
this case. Notably, I would expect all employers to want their workers to come to work ready and
fit to perform their duties. Moreover, claimant was aware of his work hours when he accepted the
job and there was no evidence that he was called in early on the day of the accident. Finally, the fact
that respondent expected its employees to be available in the case of an emergency is not relevant
since claimant acknowledged that he was not called into work for an emergency on the day of the
accident. See 1 Arthur Larson, Larson’s Workers’ Compensation Law § 14.05[6], at 14-14 (2009)
(“The circumstance that the employee is ‘subject to call’ should not be given any independent
importance in the narrow field of going to and from work; the important questions are whether the
employee was in fact on an errand pursuant to call, and what kind of errand it was.”).

935 For the reasons set forth above, I would conclude that claimant is not entitled to benefits
under the Act because he was injured while commuting to work and he failed to establish the
existence of any exception to the general rule that injuries sustained while going to and coming from
work are not compensable. As such, I would affirm the judgment of the circuit court of Sangamon
County, which set aside the decision of the Commission. Accordingly, I dissent.

936 Justice Tumer joins in this dissent.
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